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Message from President

George Stevenson MBE
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On behalf of Tennis Ireland, it gives
me great pleasure to welcome the

delegates to today’s Annual General
Meeting. Since the founding of the Irish
Lawn Tennis Association in 1908,
members have been coming together
annually to meet and review the
development of our sport.

Over the course of time, the
administration and governance of the
game has changed but the reliance on
volunteers has been a constant.
Another constant is the passion and
dedication of our members to drive the
game forward. 

It has been an interesting year.  It has
been one that has proved challenging
but also rewarding and progressive.  The
most important objective of anyone
involved in the administration of tennis
is to leave it in better shape than when
you got involved and, as I complete my
final year as President, I am certain that
our sport has made great strides during
the year in review.

The appointment of new Chief Executive
Richard Fahey following the departure
of Des Allen after 20 years of service
created many talking points but both
the board and I know that the process
undertaken was robust and fair and that
the right person came to the fore.

The highlight of my year has been the
recent promotion of the Davis Cup team
to Group II following victory in Bulgaria.
This was a great result following the
disappointment of our play-off loss to
Cyprus in 2016.  I look forward to our
Fed Cup team matching their male
counterparts as they travel to Moldova
in June and take this opportunity to wish
their Captain, Yvonne Doyle and the
team the very best of luck.

During my period in office, I have
travelled to all parts of the country and
have witnessed at first hand the
fantastic national, interprovincial and
open tournaments hosted by our
member clubs.  The quality of club

facilities is always impressive, the
organisation of the tournaments
outstanding and their hospitality
towards me has been fantastic.  For this,
I thank you.

I am delighted that 2017 will see the
return of ITF Professional Tournaments
to these shores with the hosting of an
ITF Futures Event in Carrickmines and
the return of the Men’s and Ladies Irish
Open at Fitzwilliam.

As we gather it is also appropriate to
reflect on those who have made a great
contribution to our sport and who are
no longer with us and, in this regard, I
would especially like to pay tribute to
Mavis Hogg MBE, former Honorary
Secretary of Tennis Ireland and
President of Tennis Ireland who died in
April aged 91 years.  During her life,
Mavis made a very significant
contribution to our sport and she will be
sorely missed.

It is also with deep sadness that we
learnt of the recent passing of Mary
Rose Lyons of Naas Tennis Club. Mary
Rose was also a member of the Leinster
Council and the Tennis Ireland General
Council.

Her lifetime commitment to developing
the sport was honoured by Tennis
Ireland when she received the Raymund
Egan Award in 2004

I would like to acknowledge the
tremendous support I have had
throughout my tenure from all of the
Board and staff of Tennis Ireland and in
particular from Anna and Lauren in the
Ulster Branch.

Finally, I would like to thank you, the
members for your continued support of
our sport and hope that you will remain
involved as players, coaches or
administrators for many years to come.

George Stevenson MBE
President

Tennis … it’s
what we do



It is my great pleasure to present to
you the Tennis Ireland Operational

review for the year just passed.  

As this report is presented, I have
completed my fourth month as Chief
Executive.  It has been an interesting
period and has been one that I have
utilised to get a greater understanding
of the landscape of the sport, meet
with its key stakeholders, consider the
issues that pertain to it but also to get
an enlightened picture of the scale of
work that goes on at local, regional
and national level.

As I have travelled to the four corners
of our island, I have often heard the
phrase “What does Tennis Ireland do
for us?”  Hopefully, the content
contained within this new style annual
report will make it clearer to our
members that supporting the
development of Tennis is what we do.
In the coming years, we will endeavour
to communicate this more effectively
with all our members.

Tennis Ireland has many stakeholders,
Government, Sport Ireland, Sport NI,
but none are more important than our
member clubs, the volunteers that run
them and their players.  A key objective
of both mine and the Tennis Ireland
Board will be to further develop these
important relationships so that we can
work together to grow our sport
together.

For some it may be a tired political
soundbite but when it comes to Tennis
I believe the phrase “a lot done …. more
to do” is very apt.

The year in review has been a year of
some progress.  On the Performance
side the promotion of our Davis Cup
team of James McGee, Sam Barry,
David O’Hare and Peter Bothwell to
Group II has been a great boost.  

Special mention must also go to
Georgia Drummy who qualified for the
main draw of the Junior Australian
Open in 2016.  

Shortly after my appointment I was
pleased to see Simon Carr qualify for
the main draw at the Junior Australian
Open and who has hopefully earned
enough points to make it to the main
draw of the French Open, Wimbledon
and the US Open.  I’ve had the
pleasure of witnessing the incredible
drive and determination of Simon and
the Academy staff that work with him
while he trains twice daily at the
National Tennis Centre in his efforts to
reach the highest levels of the sport.
We all have a responsibility to assist
him and all our High Performers in
achieving their dreams.

The next generation of players is being
catered for in our regional and
national academies.  We have, as an
organisation, increased our
investment in this area and will
continue to do so in the coming years.
To achieve our objective, we will work
to increase the quality and quantity of
coaches who play such an important
role in the development of our players.

One of the key issues for our clubs is
how they can adequately develop their
facilities.  I was delighted to see a new
round of the Sports Capital
Programme earlier this year and will
continue to advocate on behalf of the
record number 72 clubs that made an
application this year.

An area that I have been very impressed
with is the range of Open Tournaments
organised by clubs at Junior, Senior and
Veterans level.  Unfortunately, from
time to time, the behaviour of players or
their parents or coaches can sometimes
be an issue, therefore with the support
of the Board and the Branches we have
implemented a new feature of our
tournament software that will allow for
improved reporting and administration
of code violations.  

I am pleased to have been able to play a
part in bringing three International
Tennis Federation Professional events to
Carrickmines and Fitzwilliam this
Summer.  It has been several years since
we have hosted a Ladies Irish Open and
I look forward to seeing the next
generation of great players competing
here in July.

It would be remiss of me to not mention
the members of the Board and
Branches of Tennis Ireland.  During my
short time in this role they have
provided guidance to me and their
passion to develop our sport knows no
bounds.  They deserve great credit for
steering the organisation through
difficult financial times and have laid
the foundation for a new era of
development for our sport.

In the coming months, Tennis Ireland
will embark on the development of a
new strategy that will guide our journey
of development in the coming years.  I
hope you will join me on that journey.
We will actively consult with all our
stakeholders in the development of this
strategy and will always aim to deliver
for our members, our coaches, our
players and our communities.

Richard Fahey
Chief Executive

Message from CEO

Richard Fahey
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Relationships

Government
The Government is one of Tennis
Ireland’s most important stakeholders
and we thank Minister Shane Ross TD
and Minister Patrick O’Donovan TD and
the officials at the Department of
Transport, Tourism and Sport for their
efforts in the ongoing provision of
funding to Irish Sport and Irish Tennis. 
We were delighted to see a new round of
the Sports Capital Programme being
advertised in early 2017.  This
programme is the largest source of
capital funding for developing much
needed club infrastructure such as
floodlights, courts and changing
facilities. 

In order to support our clubs, Tennis
Ireland hosted a series of well attended
workshops in the provinces that provided
clubs with guidance on the application
process and tips to enhance the chance
of a successful allocation. The result was
a record 72 applications from clubs
seeking €5.6m from the Sports Capital
Programme.  It is unlikely that all
applications will be funded but Tennis
Ireland will make every effort to maximise
the level of funding provided to clubs. 

Tennis Ireland has also made an
application to the programme for the
installation of a Heating and Ventilation
System for the indoor courts and the
installation of three hybrid clay courts at
the National Training Centre which will
provide a more conducive environment
for supporting the development of our
players.

There have been a number of
significant infrastructure developments
in the last year that have been completed
with assistance from the Department of
Sport’s Capital Programme and other
sources.  

Shankill Tennis Club completed the
development of an impressive indoor
court development with funding from
the Sports Capital Programme and Dun
Laoghaire Rathdown County Council and
is now one of the premier Tennis facilities

in the country.  Also in Dublin,
Lansdowne Tennis Club recently opened
their new Clubhouse and both
Donnybrook and Sutton Tennis Club also
oversaw the installation of impressive
covered courts.  Other noteworthy
developments that were completed in
the last year include the redevelopment
of six courts at Catholic Institute, three
courts at Limerick Lawn Tennis Club and
new courts and fencing at Westport
Tennis Club to name but a few of the
projects that were completed in 2016.

The year ahead will see further
developments in terms of the
development of facilities and Tennis
Ireland will continue to work closely with
its affiliated clubs and advocate on their
behalf to the Department of Sport and
other key stakeholders.

Sport Ireland
Current funding for Irish Sports
organisations is distributed via Sport
Ireland.  The funding allocated to Tennis
Ireland is utilised to support the delivery
of our key programmes and activities.  In
2016, Tennis Ireland was allocated
€353,000 in core funding and also
secured an additional allocation of
€170,000 towards the delivery of our
Performance Programmes.  A further
allocation of €10,000 was secured to
attract and maintain female participation
in the sport via a schools tennis initiative
which is being rolled out in secondary
schools.

We have managed to maintain this
level of funding for 2017 and Tennis
Ireland would like to extend its
appreciation to Sport Ireland Chairman
Kieran Mulvey and Chief Executive John
Treacy for their ongoing support.

Sport Northern Ireland  (Sport NI)
As with Sport Ireland, Tennis Ireland has a
strong working relationship with Sport
Northern Ireland.  This is primarily
managed through the Ulster Branch of
the organisation.  Sport NI’s funding
model is different to Sport Ireland as it is
based on the provision of multi-annual
funding over a four year cycle. In the

four-year cycle to the end of 2016 a total
of £312,000 or £78,000 per year was
allocated to the Ulster Branch to support
their participation and performance
programmes.

Following a review of UK Sports
Funding Policy there now exists a ruthless
focus on supporting Sports with
significant medal chances at the next
Olympics.  To this end, Sport NI have cut
its high-performance funding to the
Ulster Branch by €180,000 over the next
four years.  This is a significant blow to
the Branch and its plans for supporting
emerging talent from the province.
Naturally, Tennis Ireland have appealed
this decision, the result of which will be
known in the near future.

Local Authorities 
Local Authorities have played a central
role in the development of Tennis for
many years and are one of the largest
funders of sport in the country. This is an
area that we feel has been relatively
untapped previously in terms of potential
to grow further investment. The creation
of closer relations with other Local
Authorities is a priority for Tennis Ireland
going forward and several meetings have
already taken place with Local
Authorities such as Dublin City Council
(DCC), Fingal County Council and Louth
County Council amongst others in order
to encourage them to grow further their
investment in our sport both in terms of
capital funding to support the
development of Tennis infrastructure and
current funding to support the delivery of
key programmes. 

Dublin City Council, for instance,
provide €25,000 in support to Parks
Tennis in 2016 and they have committed
to providing financial support to the
Men’s and Ladies Irish Open events
which takes place at Fitzwilliam Lawn
Tennis Club from the 22nd – 29th July this
year.  They have also developed and
manage important public tennis facilities
in places like Herbert Park and Bushy
Park.

Through an effective partnership,
Fingal County Council and Tennis Ireland
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have co-funded a part-time
Development Officer, Tara Congdon, who
operates solely in the Fingal Area.  Her
role is to support clubs and to co-
ordinate programmes aimed at
increasing participation in the
sport.  

In 2016, following support
received from Tara, eight clubs
in Fingal received €1,100 each
from the Fingal Youth Sport
Grant Scheme.  Fingal County
Council also assisted Tara in
her work by providing a
budget of €12,500 for various
outreach programmes delivered in the
region.

In Ulster, five clubs were awarded
funding from the Belfast City Council
totaling £5,500 for Club-led community
outreach tennis activities to encourage
key target groups, including people from
areas of high social need, women and
girls and people with disabilities to get
involved in tennis. Belfast City Council
awarded £20,000 for the Every Body
Active tennis programme and
contributed £7,000 towards the Belfast
City ITF Junior tournament.

Apart from supporting the
development of tennis infrastructure
such as at Shankill Tennis Club, Dun
Laoghaire Rathdown Council have shown
further commitment to Irish tennis as
they have entered an agreement to
sponsor an ITF Men’s Futures event which
takes place in Carrickmines Tennis Club
from the 16th – 22nd July 2017. 

We thank the Chief Executive's of each
of these authorities and look forward to
working with them and others in the
coming years.

International Tennis Federation 
Our sport has been engaging more
closely with the ITF in recent months and
is fully supportive of its President, Dave
Haggerty, in his efforts to review the
operation of the Davis and Fed Cups.  

Representatives from Tennis Ireland
have met with President Haggerty on a
number of occasions in the past year in
order to discuss how the ITF can help

smaller nations like
Ireland to further develop and we look
forward to continuing these discussions
in the coming years.

The ITF have launched a Fed Cup
commitment award which is presented
to players who have shown long-
standing dedication in representing their
country in Fed Cup competition by
playing at least 20 World Group ties or 40
ties at any other Fed Cup level over the
course of their career. 

Yvonne Doyle, Siobhan Nicholson and
Gina Niland have qualified for this award
and we look forward to presenting these
commitment awards at an event later
this year.

Tennis Europe
The Tennis Europe AGM was held in
Sochi, Russia on the 24th and 25th March
and was attended by 89 delegates
representing 39 member nations
including Ireland.  Vladimir Dmitriev was
elected as the first ever Russian President
of the European Tennis Federation. The
AGM also saw elections to the Board of
Management, who will serve under the
leadership of Mr. Dimitriev. Their role is to
focus on the strategic objectives of
Tennis Europe to 2025 and Ireland, as a
member nation, will play a full part in the
development and implementation of this
strategy for the benefit of Irish and
European Tennis. 

Tennis Coach Ireland
Tennis Coach Ireland is a Coaches
Representative Body that has 277

members from all parts of Ireland. Its
main function is to inform and represent
Irish coaches on all matters related to
teaching and developing the game. 

Given that Tennis Ireland is the largest
individual employer of coaches with
direct and indirect expenditure of
approximately €686,000 in 2016 on the
employment of coaches, it is important
that both organisations collaborate and
maintain good relations. We work closely
together in areas such as Coach
Education and the delivery of Continuous
Professional Development programmes
to coaches.

Tennis Ireland also provides a grant of
€8,000 per annum towards the
employment of their Development
Officer and provides access to the
National Tennis Centre for their various
events.

Dublin Lawn Tennis Council (DLTC)
The Dublin Lawn Tennis Council runs
inter club tennis leagues in the greater
Dublin area throughout the year. Over 70
Clubs and 3,500 players participate in
the Winter, Summer, Mixed, Senior,
Floodlit and Junior leagues. Tennis Ireland
acknowledges the great work
undertaken by the DLTC volunteer staff in
running such a successful league
programme.   

Tennis Ireland also acknowledges the
work that Lynn Spillane undertook during
her tenure as President of the DLTC and
looks forward to developing a strong
working relationship with its new
President Mr Harry McCarthy.
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Performance

National Tennis Academy
The National Tennis Academy based at
the National Tennis Centre at Albert
College Park is led by Tennis Ireland’s
Performance Director, Garry Cahill, and
operates from September to June each
year. 

The vision of the National Tennis
Academy is to have a “sustainable high
performance programme that
consistently produces top 100 players and
beyond”. 

In 2016 the Academy catered for a
record number of 70 players and it is now
operating at maximum capacity. 

Players are broken down in to different
squads including Mini – Futures (U10),
Futures (U13), U14s - U16s & Senior
Squad. 

The Academy has extended its training
times this year with training being made
available during the week for U14 players
and above. This opportunity to avail of a
more extensive training programme will
give players the chance to play and
compete at a higher level. 

The Academy has also established a
“Transition to Pro” programme which has
given the senior players based at the
Academy the opportunity to train on a full
time basis. 

The Players based at the Academy
represent all parts of Ireland with 55 from
Leinster, 9 from Munster, 4 from Ulster
and 2 from Connacht. 

Since the Academy began in 2007, 18
players have come through the Academy
and become professional tennis players
while a further 19 players have come
through the Academy and gained
University scholarships in the USA.

Although the primary
aim of the national
academy is to produce
professional tennis players
this is still a remarkable
success story. 

Garry is supported by a strong coaching
team including Colin O’ Brien who is head
coach of the senior squad. Colin has been
working with the National Tennis
Academy since 2014 and represented
Ireland in the Davis Cup on 9 occasions. 

Johnny McCormack is the head coach
of the U14 - U16 squad and has been a
Tennis Ireland qualified coach since 1998.
Johnny is one of the National Tennis
Academy’s most experienced and well-
travelled coaches. 

Galina Misiuriova is the head coach of
the futures squad and she has been with
Tennis Ireland since she came to Ireland as
a former Lithuanian number 1 and Fed
Cup Player. Galina concentrates on the
technical and tactical development of the
players from 10 to 13 years of age. 

Lazare Kukhalashvili is the head coach
of the Mini – Futures squad and he has
been working with Tennis Ireland since
2011. Originally from Georgia he held an
ITF Junior ranking of 36 and held an ATP
ranking of 837 aged 18.  Lazare also
coaches on the Senior Programme. 

Oktay Huseyin has been working with
the National Tennis Academy since 2016
and has an MSc degree in Strength and
Conditioning from the University of East
London. Oktay is an accredited Strength
and Conditioning coach with the National
Strength and Conditioning Association.
He works with all the squads and players
within the Academy and implements a
comprehensive strength and conditioning
programme. 

Dr Kate Kirby has recently joined the

National Tennis Academy
as performance

psychologist. Kate comes
from a strong sports
psychology background,

having completed an MSc and a PhD
in sport psychology. Her experiences
include working as a sport psychology
consultant for many national governing
bodies, including Irish Olympic Sailing and
Modern Pentathlon squads, as well as the
Irish Senior Women’s Hockey Team.
Through these roles she has developed an
excellent understanding of the needs and
requirements of elite athletes at every
stage of their career. She has also
designed and delivered athlete
performance transition programmes for
all Irish Olympic and Paralympic athletes. 

We have always had a strong tradition
in helping players transition into coaching
at the end of their career and this year we
have welcomed Daniel Glancy to the
coaching team following his retirement
from the professional circuit. 

National Academy Tournaments
Academy players travelled across Europe
throughout the year to many Tennis
Europe and ITF events. 

In excess of 20 Academy trips took
place in 2016 which included a National
Academy coach accompanying our
players at the tournaments. To comply
with best practice, Tennis Ireland ensure
that an additional parent, guardian or
coach accompanies the squads on all
trips.

Players attending the National
Academy had some notable results in
2016 with Caoimhe Duffy Niblock
winning the Malahide ITF event. Anna
Bowtell won the Belfast ITF event and
Olivia Mariotti was victorious at the Tennis
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Europe U14 event
held in Dublin with
Anna O'Farrell making
the final. 

Our players have had
significant success in the home
tournaments and it is clear to see the
value of hosting ITF and Tennis Europe
events in Ireland. 

Jenny Timotin made her first ITF
appearance reaching the Semi Final only
to lose out to former Academy player
Sinead Lohan. Sinead Lohan also won 2
ITF events in 2016.  

Many of our U13 players achieved
significant ranking points to bring forward
to the 2017 U 14 circuit with Ammar
Elamin, Michael Bakay, Georgia Lynn
Browne and Olivia Mariotti achieving
Tennis Europe rankings of under 150.

Training Camps
A key element of the National Academy
Programme is attendance at specialised
training camps.  In June 2016, the Futures
squad travelled to the Italian Federation
for a warm weather training camp. This
was a great opportunity for our players to
gain exposure to playing on real clay
courts and to prepare for clay court
season of Tennis Europe tournaments. 

In November 2016, we welcomed the
Belgian Federation for a camp with our
U14 girl’s squad. The Belgian Federation
brought some of their top ranked
European players in what proved to be a
very valuable sparring opportunity for our
players. There are more training camps
planned for 2017 in Italy, Belgium and the
Czech Republic.

Provincial Academy Programmes
The objective of the Provincial Academy
programmes is the identification and

development of emerging
talent within each province as

well as bringing talent through
to the National Tennis Academy. 

Significant work has been
delivered in the past year to develop our
regional programmes and we now have
four performance officers employed on a
part-time basis in each region. 

To further our investment in the
development of Emerging Talent, Garrett
Barry has recently been appointed as
National Performance Coordinator to
oversee the development of our regional
programmes. The main role of the
National Performance Coordinator is to
lead the Talent Identification programme
and to increase co-operation and best
practice between the regional
programmes and the National Academy. 

The number of performance players in
our junior performance centres has
increased by 30% over the past year. The
most significant increase has been in our
U-10 programmes which is the age that
is internationally recognised as being key
to developing talent. 

A further improvement in the Regional
Development programme was the
instigation of regional feeder or satellite
centres spread throughout Leinster,
Munster, Ulster, and Connacht. 

We have also improved the quality of
the on court tennis delivery within our
regional centres. This has been achieved
by hosting regular workshops for
coaches and the encouragement of
more coaches to undertake and
complete Level 2 and Level 3 coach
education awards. 

In the provincial academy in Munster
there are currently 8 Coaches working
with 35 players under the watchful eye of
Cian Blake. This is in addition to the 115

players that are in the various satellite
programmes. 

One of the major challenges in relation
to the delivery of the programme is the
fact that there are currently no accessible
indoor tennis facilities in Munster and
therefore, all training sessions, matches
and tournaments are weather
dependent.  Efforts are being made to
overcome this issue and Tennis Ireland
has engaged with a number of potential
indoor projects.

In Ulster there are 72 junior players and
20 senior players in the provincial
programme which is led by Stuart
McQuitty who is also Head of Operations
with Ulster Tennis. There are currently15
coaches working within the programme. 

The Connacht regional programme is
run by Garrett Barry who is assisted by 9
coaches in 3 locations, namely Castlebar,
Sligo and Galway. 

The Leinster programme is led by
Stephen Nugent who is a former
professional player who represented
Ireland in the Davis Cup. There are
currently 120 players and 15 coaches
working in the programme. The Leinster
squads operate out of a number of
venues including: Shankill and the
National Tennis Centre at Albert College
Park. 

Tennis Ireland, under the guise of the
National Academy Programme, recently
made a successful application to Tennis
Europe for technical assistance with our
Under 14 programme.  

The benefit of this assistance is that we
will now receive ongoing expertise from
the ITF and respected coach Frank Van
Fraayenhoven in the areas of
Performance Analysis, Biomechanics and
Strength and Conditioning. 

The programmes will be rolled out to
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coaches working on the Regional
Development programmes in the form
of Continuous Professional Development
workshops over the next 6 months as we
look to continuously develop our high
performance and regional programme
staff. 

Davis Cup 
The team of David O’Hare, James McGee,
Sam Barry and Peter Bothwell captained
by Conor Niland undertook the long
journey to Solzopol in Bulgaria in early
April.  

The lead up to the event saw Peter
Bothwell training at the National Tennis
Centre while Sam Barry David O’Hare and
James McGee played in a Challenger
event in France the week preceding the
event. David O’Hare reached the final of
the doubles and James McGee recorded
a top 100 win before losing in the
Quarter Finals.  In hindsight, it was
probably the perfect preparation for the
Davis Cup. 

Having beaten Kosovo, Andorra and
Montenegro in the pool stages of the
competition, Ireland drew Pool A winners
and hosts Bulgaria in the promotion
playoff. 

Sam Barry lost to Bulgaria’s Kusmanov
in the opening match in three tight sets
4-6 6-3 7-6(8).  James McGee had to win
his match to keep Ireland in the tie and
thankfully he beat the Bulgarian number
1 Aleksander Lazov 6-2 4-6 6-1.  In the
deciding doubles, Sam Barry partnered
David O’Hare and defeated the
Bulgarians in two sets 6-1 7-6(8) to
secure promotion to Group II of the Davis
Cup for 2018. 

The draw for the 2018 competition
where Ireland will be in Group II and
competing with countries such as

Sweden, Finland, South Africa and
Luxembourg will take place in September
2017. 

Fed Cup
The Irish Fed Cup Team travelled to
Montenegro from April 11th – 16th

without key injured players Amy Bowtell
and Jenny Claffey.  Amy still hasn’t fully
recovered from her hip injury and has
struggled to return to the professional
circuit after it looked like she was going
to have a very promising career. 

The team represented by Anna
Bowtell, Jenny Timotin, Georgia Drummy
and captained by Yvonne Doyle finished
second in Pool B behind Macedonia and
will remain in Euro / Africa Zone Group III
for 2017 where they will travel to
Moldova in June in an effort to match
their male counterparts and gain
promotion to Group II.

Grand Slams, Tournaments and
Ranking Highlights 
National Academy player, Georgia
Drummy qualified for the Junior

Australian Open in January 2016 and
became the youngest Irish player in
history to reach the main draw of a Junior
Grand Slam event. She also reached 165
in the Junior World Rankings with three
more years left as a junior. 

Simon Carr qualified in late 2016 for
the Junior Australian Open where he
was beaten in the first round of the
main draw. Simon became the youngest
Irish player ever to have a professional
ranking at 16 years of age and his end
of year ITF Junior ranking was 52 and
ATP 1122. 

More recently, Simon has had a very
successful period reaching the final of
both a Grade 1 and a Grade 2 event. He
has now almost guaranteed his place in
the main draw of the French Open and
will hopefully compete in Wimbledon
and the US Open also.

We have reached a critical time in
Simon’s development and he will
require significant additional support in
the form of a full-time coach on the
road with him, particularly in the lead
up to and during Grand Slam periods to
allow him to reach his full potential. 

James McGee, won his first ATP
Challenger title at Cary in September
2016. This was a fantastic achievement
for James returning to form after an
injury lay off earlier in the year. 

National Academy graduate, Sam
Barry, achieved his highest ranking ever
of 268 ATP in 2016, which was very
much in line with his annual goal of
250. He made his first challenger tour
final in early 2016.  Sam is still only 24
years of age and is on track to make
grand slam qualifying in 2017. 

David O’Hare exceeded his ranking
goal of Top 200 ATP doubles when he
finished the year ranked 150 ATP

10  ::  TENNIS IRELAND ANNUAL REPORT 2016

James McGee, won his

first ATP Challenger title

at Cary in September

2016



doubles.  He is making good progress in
his efforts to break into the top 100. In
the last year he has made four finals of
ATP/ITF events in 2016 and has an
outside chance of earning a Wild Card
entry into the All England
Championships at Wimbledon this year. 

Peter Bothwell has broken in to the
top 1000 in the ATP tour with a career
high of 726 at the end of 2016 after a
successful year on the tour. 

Academy Education Workshops
During 2016 and the early part of 2017,
the National Tennis Academy have run
many workshops and events for
parents, coaches and players. Some of
the workshops that have been
conducted have been in the areas of
Sports Psychology, Skill and Talent
Acquisition, Physical Preparation, Injury
Prevention and the role of a travelling
parent. 

At the end of every academy term we
run a parents and player’s tennis
tournament which is a social gathering
that brings everyone together for a fun
session.

A private coaches and parents
workshop took place earlier this year at

the National Tennis
Academy where the

private or club coaches
of Academy players

were

invited in for an evening with our
Performance Director and National
Academy coaches. It was an informative
evening where we could show the
private coaches what exactly we are
trying to achieve and how both sets of
coaches can work together to enhance
and improve Academy players. 

We are working more closely with
Tennis Coach Ireland (TCI) to include TCI
members in our workshops and the
National Academy team will also be
delivering workshops on behalf of TCI
throughout the year.

Anti-Doping
Tennis Ireland’s anti-doping policy is
that doping is contrary to the spirit of
sport and every member has a duty to
ensure that the sport is free of doping. 

We continue to implement our Anti-
Doping Education Strategy and have
hosted education seminars and
workshops for our High-Performance
athletes and support staff during the
year.

These workshops are conducted by
Rachel Maguire of Sport Ireland's Anti-
Doping Unit. 

No adverse findings from blood or
urine tests were reported in 2016

Commercial
Unfortunately, we lost BNP Paribas as a
sponsor of the National Tennis Academy
at the end of 2016 and we thank them
for their support of Irish tennis over the

past six years. 
We would

also like to
thank AIG
and Wilson
for their
continued

commitment to Irish tennis and look
forward to working with them during
2017 and hopefully beyond.

A key challenge for Tennis Ireland is to
bring in additional sponsorship and
commercial income during 2017 and
this will be a key strategic focus for the
Company in the coming years.  A
pipeline of discussions with well-known
brands is in place and it is hoped that a
number of sponsorship announcements
will be made in the coming months.

Staff Education and Training
A key area of improvement in the last
year has been the continued
development of our valued staff.  11
employees and Board members from
across the company attended a total of
10 courses over the past year run by
Sport Ireland. These courses covered a
range of topics including project
management, organisational
leadership, corporate governance,
media management, data protection
and human resources. 

We also sent a representative of our
High-Performance team to the
European Coaches conference in
November in Belgium. 

Our Performance Director, Garry
Cahill, also graduated from the Irish
Institute of Sport Podium Programme, a
three-year coach performance support
programme targeting 23 high
performance coaches from a multitude
of Irish sports.  

We also had a staff member complete
the Northern Ireland Executive
Leadership Development programme
which took place from January 2016 to
February 2017 and was funded by Sport
NI. 
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Development
Vetting and Safeguarding 
The Vetting Act came into effect on the
29 April 2016 and now makes it
mandatory for people working with
children or vulnerable adults to be vetted
by the National Vetting Bureau.

The main purpose of the Bureau to
deal with requests from organisations
like Tennis Ireland to provide information
on prospective employees, volunteers or
other workers who engage with children
or vulnerable adults.

One of our main challenges for the
vetting process was the time it took for
an application to go through the system
and back to the disclosure stage. Two
improvements were implemented in
2016; first, the appointment of a full-
time member of the office team to deal
with the vetting of applicants, the second
was the introduction of E-vetting which
enhanced the turn-around time for
vetting subjects from five to six weeks to
five days.

We also work closely withAccess NI,
the branch within Northern Ireland’s
Department of Justice whose role is to
supply certificates to highlight a criminal
record or if other relevant information is
known about them.

Since we started providing the vetting
service for our stakeholders in 2007, we
have processed 5,700 applicants,  528 of
which were completed during 2016 and a
further 207 to date in 2017.

Children First Legislation
The Children First Act 2015 was enacted
to place the Protection and Welfare of
Children on a statutory footing. The
legislation was a key commitment within
the Programme of Government and now
forms part of a suite of child protection
legislation which includes the National
Vetting Bureau Act and the Criminal
Justice Act. 

Based on the Act and the Children First
National Guidance, Tennis Ireland has 12
requirements that must be achieved by
all stakeholders to comply with the Act.

Our staff have been working tirelessly
with all our stakeholders at Club, Branch
and Board level as well as other
associated organisations like Tennis
Coach Ireland and Parks Tennis to
communicate and ensure compliance

with the requirements.
Working together, we have 150 clubs

who have declared themselves 100%
compliant with the requirements and we
are working with the branches to ensure
that the small minority of clubs that are
not currently 100% compliant have a
clear pathway towards full compliance.

Our records show that 300 Children’s
Officers within clubs have been trained in
Safeguarding 1 and 2 to date and 150
Designated Liaison Officers have been
trained in Safeguarding 1 and 3. 

It is critical that all strands of the sport
continue to work closely to safeguard all
involved in tennis.

The Vetting Certificate is valid for a
period of three years before it has to be
renewed and Tennis Ireland regularly
contacts coaches in an effort to ensure
the validity of their Vetting Certificate.  

The certification related to
Safeguarding courses for Children’s
Officers, the Designated Liaison Officers
and Coaches is valid for 5 years and to
assist those who’s certification is close to
expiration, Sport Ireland has developed
an on line Safeguarding 1 Refresher
Course.  This web based education
resource is aimed at providing further
training to those who have previously
attended a Safeguarding workshop or
equivalent.

The online refresher course can be
accessed on the e-learning section of the
Sport Ireland Website.

Coach Education
Tennis Ireland believes that good players
are the result of good coaching and good
coaches are a result of a good Coach
Education programme. Therefore, the
training of coaches and their continuous
professional development is very
important to the development of our
sport.  To support this, we have invested a
lot of time into training our Tutors and
the development of our course materials
and syllabi.

The Coach Education and
Technical Committee is
Chaired by Joe Flood
and supported by
Roger Geraghty,
the Director of
Development of
Tennis Ireland, Tadhg
Lambe, Pete Lowther
and Peter Farrell. 

The committee met eight times during
2016 in their role to look at increasing
the quality and quantity of coaches in the
4 Provinces and the delivery of courses.
The Committee are tasked with ensuring
that our courses have the most up to
date and appropriate content and are
regularly reviewed.  The Committee have
also been responsible for assimilating
coaches trained outside of our system
and fast tracking former ATP and WTA
players that have retired from the sport.
A beneficiary of this programme this year
was former Davis Cup player, Daniel
Glancy.

As part of its role to support the
development of coaches, Tennis Ireland
works very closely with Sport Coaching
Ireland to maintain and ensure
compliance with national requirements
relating to Coach Education as well as
the training of our tutors.

22 Participants completed the Level 1
Coaching Course in 2016 and a further
16 Coaches signed up to our Level 2 and
Level 3 programmes during 2016.

We currently have 277 Registered
Coaches who have come through our
Coach Education system, 192 at Level 1,
49 at Level 2 and 36 at Level 3.

Tennis Ireland also regularly engages
with the ITF in relation to the
development and delivery of coach
education and is one of only 18 nations
that has achieved the Gold Level
standard which is the highest level of
recognition for Coach Education
Programmes within the ITF.

We constantly maintain and further
develop our system by sending delegates
to the Annual Worldwide and European
Coaches Conferences and on return
incorporate any relevant or additional
knowledge into our system.

Coach Licensing
The objective of our Coach Licensing
Programme is to ensure that Tennis
Coaches working in our clubs or other
settings are vetted, have up to date
Safeguarding 1 training and have

achieved the required number of
Continuous Professional

Development points set down
as part of the criteria. 

It is important that
all individuals or
organisations who
employ or contract
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coaches use the services of licensed
coaches only. During 2016 we have 150
Licensed Coaches on our register.  The
list is published on our website and
provides assurances to clubs that the
coaches listed are compliant and
qualified to operate within our game.
Work is underway to ensure that all
Tennis Coach Ireland members are
licensed annually to work within Irish
Tennis.

A total of 23 courses which provided
points for Continuous Professional
Development were made available for
coaches in 2016.

Parks Tennis
The main aim of the Parks Tennis
Programme is to provide tennis at a low
cost to children not normally exposed
to the game.  The programme operates
weekly during the Autumn, Winter,
Spring and daily for up to five weeks of
the school Summer holidays. 

Parks Tennis has been in operation
for 40 years, and run by 32 voluntary
Co-ordinators.  The programme is
extensively supported by Tennis Ireland
and various Local Authorities including

Dublin City Council and Fingal, South
Dublin and Dun Laoghaire Rathdown
County Councils.

Last year a total of 20,185 children
took part in 162 venues in 30 counties
and provided part time employment to
300 coaches and assistants around the
island of Ireland. 

Over its 40 years of existence, Parks
Tennis has been responsible for
attracting hundreds of thousands of
Parks participants many of whom are
now members in our affiliated clubs.

A key challenge that faced the
programme was the loss of their main
sponsor, Maxol at the end of 2016 and

we are working closely with Parks
Tennis to assist them to find a new
sponsor for the programme for 2018. 

Tennis Ireland has a strong
relationship with the Parks Tennis
Programme both in terms of the
provision of funding to the tune of
almost €81,000 in 2016 and in terms
of operational support and we look
forward to working very closely with the
Programme in the coming months and
years in an effort to grow the number
of participants and to support them in
making continuous improvements.  

Great credit is due to all involved in
the organisation of the programme in
the many branches around the country
but in particular to Kay Lonergan, Tom
O’Loughlin and Brendan Moran for the
tremendous work that they have put in
to the programme over the years.

Schools Tennis Initiative
Schools are often the first place where
children are exposed to organised
physical activity and it is critical for the
growth of our sport that tennis clubs
take an interest in reaching out to
schools adjacent to their clubs. 

Last year a total of 20,185

children took part in 162

venues



Similar to Parks Tennis, the various
Schools Tennis Initiatives operated by
Tennis Ireland, the branches and
individual clubs and coaches taking
place around the country have been
making a major contribution to the
development of our game at grassroots
level.

The main objective of the Primary
School Programme is to introduce
school children to tennis through the
games strand of the National PE
Curriculum. 

Over 300 Schools have signed up to
this initiative and we estimate this
programme is catering for up to 9,000
children per year.

In addition, there are also 75 coaches
working privately in 160 schools around
the country catering for in the region of
5,000 children each school term.

We received funding from Sport
Ireland for the Secondary Schools Tennis
Health and Wellbeing Project which
commenced in April 2016 and is in the
second year of its existence.  

The aim of the initiative is to introduce
a new pathway into tennis for teenagers,
particularly girls, across Ireland by
developing tennis programmes in clubs
aimed at promoting tennis for health,
fitness and mental well-being. 

The initiative involves lesson plans for
all secondary school teachers, with
accompanying cross curricular wall

charts and fact sheets for students
addressing how beneficial tennis is for
health, along with information on
nutrition in sport, exercise science, and
positive mental health through tennis. 

By putting these resources into the
hands of PE teachers the aim is to
expose more teenagers to tennis in their
schools.

The ‘Tennis for Health and Wellbeing’
PE Pack’s are being distributed to
secondary schools through local sports
partnerships (LSPs), and education
centres. In 2016, we presented the
Schools Initiative Programme at
Regional Workshops during April and
May. Since then 17 clubs have signed up
as School Friendly clubs.  There are also
40 coaches that have signed up to the
Programme as School Friendly Coaches.
The purpose is to link up the clubs and
their coaches with their local schools
and organise and run School Blitzes as a
means of increasing participation in the
schools and attracting new members to
clubs. 

The number of participants who
attended the first round of blitzes
involving the 17 schools friendly clubs
was 2,918. 

The number of students receiving
tennis in schools or after school clubs as
a result of the two initiatives for 2016
was 4,196.

Teacher Training
Teacher training is an integral part of our
Schools Tennis programme and we
presented at the PE Association
conferences where 90 teachers were
trained.

One of the challenges with Schools
Tennis is establishing the numbers
involved in the extracurricular coaching
programmes and indeed signposting the
children from these programmes into
clubs. This is an area that Tennis Ireland
will be looking at in the coming months.

Schools Competition 
Nationwide, there are 129 Secondary
Schools and 75 Primary Schools
participating in the Schools
competitions and these are catering for
1,500 participants.

Leinster Junior League 
The Leinster Branch of Tennis Ireland is
actively trying to provide more
competitive opportunities for players of
all standards and have established and
implement the Leinster Junior League
in this regard. There are currently 44
Clubs involved in this programme
fielding 87 teams and catering for 694
participants.

Red, Orange and Green Ball
Events 
The Tennis 10’s Programme has been
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developed by the ITF for players aged
10 and under and is played on smaller
courts with slower Red, Orange and
Green balls. 

Tennis Ireland’s version of this is
delivered via Phoenix and ROGY events.
These have been specifically designed
to encourage players with little or no
competitive experience to participate
in blitz type “Open” Tournaments. It is a
fun way to introduce children to
competitive tennis and makes it easy
for them to play the game, develop
good technique and tactics and a love
for the sport. The slower Red, Orange
and Green balls are used as they are
more suited to beginners than the
normal Yellow ball.  All players are
guaranteed multiple matches and the
events usually run over a weekend or
over a 2 day period during school
holidays.   

In 2016 in the 4 Provinces, there were
160 ROGY / Phoenix events held
involving more than 2,500 participants.

We expect the number of these type
of events to grow in the years ahead.

Enjoy Tennis
Enjoy Tennis is a Tennis Ireland
programme that provides an
opportunity for players with a disability
to learn and enjoy playing tennis in
clubs around Ireland. It is now
operating across all four Provinces. The
programme started in 2015
originally for players with an
intellectual disability but
since its inception the
programme has now
grown to cater for over
600 players with a
variety of disabilities in
50 Tennis Clubs
throughout Ireland.  

To support the existing
clubs and groups and
develop the

programme further we have recruited
five-part time Regional Enjoy Tennis
Development Officers and they have
trained and support 75 coaches in the
delivery of the programme.

A great step forward is the inclusion
of Tennis as part of the Special
Olympics Ireland programme and it is
anticipated that new participants to the
sport will be attracted on account of
this development.

Although there are many people who
have supported the development of
this programme, great credit must go
to Liam O’Donoghue who is the driving
force behind the programme, a fact
that was recently recognized when the
programme was the runner up in the
2016 Cara National Governing Body
Inclusion Awards.

The growth of the programme would
not have been possible without the
support of the Leinster Branch of Tennis

Ireland and Sport Ireland who
assisted with the allocation of

€40,000 via POBAL and the
Dormant Accounts Fund.

Club Development
Active clubs are the linchpin
to the success and growth of
our Sport. A successful tennis
club is a club that can satisfy

the needs of its local
community and members of

all ages and levels of
ability.

A major role of
our team of

Development
Officers is to
assist, advise
and
support

our
affiliated

tennis clubs

so that they can provide facilities and
activities to their members which will
contribute towards attracting and
further maintaining newcomers to our
clubs.

In 2016 the Development team
engaged with over 70% of our affiliated
clubs in some way.  The Development
team have been assisting Club
Committees in areas such as facility
development, child protection,
membership growth, court utilisation,
maintenance of members throughout
the year, adapting organised play or
assisting with graded competitions.  

The development team were also in
touch with clubs in their regions in an
effort to encourage and support them
in the planning, promotion and
organization of Club Open Days.  

41 clubs organised Open Days in
2016 in partnership with Tennis Ireland
and so far, there are 17 clubs who are
planning open days for 2017.

A relatively untapped market for new
members is the attraction of the many
thousands of people from a non Irish
background to our sport and in the last
number of weeks funding support has
been sought from the Department of
Justice via their Integration unit to
assist clubs with hosting Open Days for
these new communities.

Tennis Ireland Clubmark
The Clubmark is a development tool
designed to provide clubs with the
resources and skills to manage their
clubs more effectively.

A list of criteria has been prepared to
cover areas such as governance and
management, health and safety, child
welfare, risk management, equality and
inclusion, organised play and scoring,
competition, coaching and player
development, outreach programmes,
communication and public relations.

The programme is accredited at
three levels, Bronze, Silver or Gold and
aims to identify, develop, accredit and
recognise good practice in tennis clubs.

The Ulster Branch has had the
Clubmark in place for 6 years and 13
clubs have achieved the highest level of
accreditation with a further 13 clubs
registered.  The development team are
also working closely with 10 clubs in
the Republic in order to assit them in
achieving the Gold Award.  

Active Clubs are the

linchpin to the success and

growth of our Sport
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Competitions 

Tennis Ireland grants tournament
permits to affiliated clubs to host Open
tournaments in Junior, Senior and
Veteran categories. Last year we
allocated permits to 62 junior
tournaments, 57 Senior and 23 Veterans
events. 

During the  2016 season, 4,736
players participated in Senior and
Veteran Open tournaments and 5,359
in Junior Open tournaments. While the
numbers for the previous year are
similar there is a slight increase in
tournament permits issued in 2017, an
indication of growing levels of
participation across all categories and
the fact that some newly affiliated clubs
came on board during the year. 

Junior Interprovincials
The Junior Interprovincial Competition
is held each year in August in the U14
and U18 age categories. The 2016
event was held in Carrickmines Tennis
Club and Leinster were the outright
winners in both the U14 and U18
events. 

National Matchplay Series
The national matchplay series was
introduced almost 20 years ago to fill a
specific gap in the tournament calendar
and to provide competitive
opportunities for performance players
from each of the four Provinces. Players
were originally selected from their
provincial squads to compete in a
weekend of national matchplay. The
popular format of multiple matches
feeding into a more level playing field
after each round means that all players
benefit from the quality of matchplay. 

The structure of the matchplay series
has evolved since its inception to
include qualification events at regional
and provincial levels before reaching
the top 16 national event. This has had
many positive impacts and in the last
year, 660 players, who are actively
training at regional, provincial and
national level were involved in the
series.

A challenge for Tennis Ireland is the
structure of the series going forward.
Currently to be eligible for the national

matchplay the top players must commit
to the entire series from regional to
provincial matchplay and for many who
are playing at international level this is
not possible.  Consequently, a number
of the top players do not end up playing
in the series. A further review of the
qualification criteria and the
tournament calendar may be of benefit
to both players and the event for 2018. 

National Indoors 
The National Indoors took place in two
venues from the 27th – 31st December
with the Under 18’s event and the
Senior event held in the newly
refurbished indoor facility at Westwood
Clontarf and the Under 12’s, 14’s and
16’s events being held at Westwood in
Leopardstown. 

The U18 boys and girls events were
won by young national academy
members Ammar Elamin (age 15) from
Mullingar and Shauna Heffernan (age
15) from Claremorris. 

In the senior event Neil O'Connor
from Malahide defeated Finlay
McFayden in the Men's final 6-1 6-1.
Ruth Copas from Dundalk, currently
playing college tennis at the University
of New Mexico, defeated Karola
Bejenaru the defending champion 1-6
7-5 7-6 in the Women’s event.

Irish Junior Open 
The 102nd Irish Junior Open took place in
Fitzwilliam LTC where some of the best
national rivalries of the year were played
out in front of a large crowd at the Club
and once again we thank Fitzwilliam for
hosting such a fantastic event. 

In the U18 boys Morgan Lohan (St
Annes, Waterford) defeated Cian
Maguire (St Annes, Waterford) 6-4 6-2
and in the U18 girls Anna Bowtell
(Greystones) defeated Katie Kirby (St
Annes, Waterford) 6-0 6-2. 

Tri Nations 
The annual triangular event for U12s,
U14s and U18s took place in Cardiff,
Wales in September. The teams were
captained by John McGahon, Stephen
Nugent and Lynsey McCullough. Ireland
made history when they won the event
for the first time in 2014, however it was
Scotland who emerged the overall

winners in 2016 winning two of the age
groups at U14 and U18 and coming
second to Wales in the U12s.  For
Ireland, it was to be the tournament of
the dreaded Championship tie-break
where we lost 11 out of a total 13
played.

The best results of the Irish teams
came from the U18s team of Morgan
Lohan, Peter Corrie, Jennifer Timotin
and Sophia Derivan. Ireland drew with
Wales with all four team members
winning a match. 

The U14 team of Ammar Elamin,
Conor Gannon, Olivia Mariotti and
Juliana Carton competed extremely well
in their category defeating Wales 4-
2 but suffered a tough loss of 5-1 to
Scotland losing all of four
Championship tie-breaks.

Similarly the U12 team of Zach
Murphy, Arthur O’Sullivan, Ava Fanning
and Rachel McCrum gave it their all
when they drew 3-3 with Scotland also
falling foul of three Championship tie-
breaks. Wales were the U12 outright
winners.

International U18 and U14
Tournaments
Tennis Ireland hosted three U18 ITF
World ranking points events last year
which were held in Malahide TC,
Windsor TC and Dundalk TC and two
Tennis Europe U14 events in July and
August which were held at the National
Tennis Centre. We are indebted to the
clubs for their continuous commitment
to these events and look forward to
once again staging these events in July
and August of 2017. 

These tournaments provide an
opportunity for Irish players to gain
invaluable international ranking points
here at home which make it easier for
them to gain entry to tournaments
overseas in the future. Irish players who
featured strongly were Caoimhe Duffy
Niblock winner in Malahide ITF, Peter
Corrie and Anna Bowtell winners in
Windsor and Olivia Mariotti was a
winner in the Tennis Europe U14 event
at the National Tennis Centre.
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Irish Universities
The Irish Universities team travelled to
France from 1st – 4th December for the
BNP Masters Tournament. The Irish team
was led by Captain Jamie Pilkington with
national academy players Simon Carr,
Amy Bowtell and Bjorn Thomson. The
team finished 8th with United States
winning the overall tournament.

Senior Interprovincial
Championships
The Senior Championships were held in
Lower Aghada TC. Munster were overall
winners and retained the title from the
previous year with Leinster in 2nd place.

Veterans
National Veterans events held in 2016
included the Irish Indoors
Championships in David Lloyd Belfast,
The Irish Open Veteran Championships
in Templeogue and The Veteran
Championships of Ireland in Lansdowne
TC. 

A total of 515 players entered these
three major events.

Ireland entered teams in all three
International ITF World Team
Championship events. 

The Young Seniors 2017 in South
Africa, The Seniors 2016 in Finland in
June and The Super Seniors in Croatia in
September.

Countries represented at this year’s
tournaments included France, Germany,
Great Britain, Netherlands, USA, Canada,
South Africa, Turkey, Spain, Finland,
Brazil, Argentina, Mexico, India,
Switzerland, Australia, Russia, Sweden,
Moldova, Slovenia, Romania and
Mozambique.

Young Seniors 2017
The Young Seniors Championships took
place in Capetown South Africa in
March. Ireland fielded teams in W35,
W40, M35, M40 and M45. The highlight
of the performances was in the Womens
35 team finishing in 6th place overall, an
amazing achievement given the quality
of the field in their event.
■ Italia Cup (M35) - Justin Clarke, Gary

Kilduff, Rob Cherry, David Mullins
finished in 14th place

■ Suzanne Lenglen Cup (W35) - Elaine
Chambers, Ashley McVeigh, Donna
McSorley, and Christine Kournakova
finished in 6th place.

■ Tony Trabert Cup (M40)- Justin Smith,
Robert Cummins, Joe Cummiskey, and
Cronan McNamara finished in 12th
place.

■ Young Cup (W40)- Ffyona
Cunnngham, Suzanne Tyrrell and
Gemma O’Donoghue finished in 10th
place.

■ Dubler Cup (M45) - Willie Reynolds,
Pat McGrath, and Eddie Moloney
finished in 14th place.

Seniors 2016
The 2016 Seniors Championships took
place in Helsinki, Finland.  Ireland fielded
teams in M50, M55, M60, W50 and W55
agegroups.
■ Maureen Connolly Cup (W50)-

Carmel O’Hare, Niamh Kennedy, Jillian
Chandler finished in 12th place

■ Maria Esther Bueno Cup (W55)-
Annette Smith, Connie Creed, Marie
Duffy anne Naughton, finished in 9th
place

■ Fred Perry Cup (M50) Neil Wilson, Tim
Blomley, Mark Milligan, Joe Donovan
finished in 12th place

■ Austria Cup (M55) Tony Davison,
Willie Noteman, Tom Barry, Robbie
Harold finished in 19th place

■ Von Cramm Cup (M60) Neagle
Cathcart, Noel Sheridan, Jimmy
Wilson, Michael Breslin finished in
12th place

Super Seniors 2016
The Super Seniors took place in Croatia
and Ireland fielded teams in M65, M70,
M75, M80 and W65 events.
■ Gardnar Molly Cup (M80) Eddie

French, Keith Hunt, Paddy Connery,
Dennis Corby finished in 11th place

■ Brittania Cup (M65) Richard
McCarthy, William Caldwell, Hugh
Harrington, Michael Murray finished
in 16th place

■ Jack Crawford Cup (M70) George
Lucas, Martin Daly, Patrick Dowling,
John McAllistar finished in 10th place

■ Kitty Godfree Cup (W65) M.A.
Broderick, Helen Pollock, Letty Lucas,
Pat Cowley finished in 13th place

■ Bitsy Grant Cup (M75) Frank Aiken,
Tadgh Kennelly, Eddie Coakley, Derry
Vereker finished in 18th place

The Four Nations Seniors Tournament
was held in April in Wrexham Wales for
mens and ladies in age groups 55, 60
and 65.

England were the outright winners with
Ireland finishing runner up in the Ladies
55 and Men’s 60 events.
■ Ladies 55 Team (R up) - Annette

Smith, Patricia Lord, Connie Creed,
Anne Naughton

■ Ladies 60 Team (4th) - Ellen
McCartney, Marian Mc Veagh,
Geraldine Wynne, Pat Dwyer,

18  ::  TENNIS IRELAND ANNUAL REPORT 2016



■ Ladies 65 Team (3rd) –Sheila Lacy, Pat
Cowley, Mgt. Anne Broderick, Kay
Lynch

■ Mens 55 Team (4th) - Conor Woods,
John Maguire, Willie Noteman, Mick
Tubridy

■ Mens 60 Team(R up) - Neagle
Cathcart, Jimmy Wilson, Michael
Breslin, David Craig

■ Mens 65 Team (3rd) - Richard
McCarthy, Tim Eaton, Willie Caldwell,
George Lucas

Veteran Interpros
The Veteran Interprovincials is held each
year and is divided into tow age
categories, the Seniors and Super-
Seniors. They are held each year on the
second weekend in May and September.

The Seniors includes teams from age
35-33 and Super-Seniors from age 55-
80+. In 2016 the Super-Senior event
was held in Belfast Boat Club in May
when Leinster and Munster tied to share
the Cup. The Senior event was held in
September in Galway and was won by
Leinster.

Wheelchair Tennis
The ITF World Team Championships
Team event was held in Portugal where
the Irish Team of Stafford Lynn, Garreth
Greene, Ger Milligan and Ivor Jess
competed well. The team was led by
their captain Jim Watt. A pre-
tournament training session at the
national tennis centre was recorded and
footage was used to promote the team
event and wheelchair tennis.

Ireland were drawn in a group with
Hungary, Romania and Portugal and for
the most part were competing against
opponents with much higher

international rankings. Despite the vast
gap in rankings Jim Watt reported very
competitive matchplay overall, the
highlight being Garreth Green’s victory
over the world number 89 from
Portugal.

Tournament Software
In 2015 it was made compulsory for all
tournaments with Tennis Ireland permits
to run their tournaments on
Tournament Planner Software and IT
support is provided from Tennis Ireland
to affiliated clubs in getting their
tournaments set up and published.  

This has proved extremely successful
and we can now accurately track
participation in these events more
accurately than ever before.  A new
feature has been installed in the
software that allows tournament
organisers to report code violations
when entering results. This
development includes the recording of
offences, automatic player notifications
and administration of player penalty
points. This will ensure more vigilant
oversight of Tennis Ireland’s tournament
rules and regulations and will assist
referees in the performance of their role
and duties.

We have and will continue to invest in
the development of the tournament
mobile phone app which was launched
early in 2016 and has been downloaded
by over 1,600 players to date.

National Player Database
The National Player Database hosts the
details of all club members who have
registered with Tennis Ireland in recent
years. In 2015 it was decided to move
the database to tournament software so

the national rankings and tournament
planner would all operate within the one
software system. This was a huge
exercise requiring investment and the
allocation of resources for data
processing but we have succeeded in
restoring a functional database of
approximately 30,000 members. 

Our monthly newsletter is directly
linked to its subscribed members
allowing for tailored targeting of
relevant tennis news and updates. 

Software developments are constantly
being introduced to allow for a more
improved and reliable database of
information. The next phase is to work
closely with club personnel in 2017 to
highlight the benefits of the system and
provide administrative support to
facilitate the process of club
engagement with the database.

Officiating 
In October 2016 Tennis Ireland joined
forces with Fergus Murphy ATP chair
umpire (Irish Tennis Umpires
Association) in order to deliver
tournament officiating workshops
aimed at providing expert support for
tournament organisers around the
country.  A total of 165 participants
attended the various workshops and
gained knowledge in a range of areas
including rules of tennis, tournament
officiating and some practical guidelines
on match supervision. 

A more detailed and specific
refereeing course is being prepared for
late May of this year focussing on
training volunteers to become expert
referees with a view to creating a panel
of expert referees that can be called
upon to run national level tournaments.
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Improving our engagement levels

has become a high priority for us

and over the last year our Facebook

page followers went up from 5602

to 6128 and engagement numbers

have more than doubled. 
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Communications

We have been actively focusing on
improving links with affiliated clubs by
delivering new initiatives and
programmes directly via workshops and
one on one visits with clubs. Work has
also commenced on a programme to
assist clubs to reduce the cost of their
utilities by using their collective buying
power to drive better rates.  There is
much more to do in this area and
further efforts will be made in the
coming months to improve the
relationship with our clubs and their
members.

In an effort to highlight the work
undertaken at our national academy
and the achievement of our top Junior
Player, clubs and the national media
were invited to attend an exhibition
match ahead of Simon Carr’s departure
for the Australian Open in December
which proved very popular.

A big challenge for tennis is
competing with the three field sports,
GAA, Soccer and Rugby for media
coverage so recent efforts have been
focused on using the channels we have
available to us and interacting directly
with our followers.

Efforts to increase the amount of
media coverage for tennis, particularly
in regional or local media will be a key
objective in the coming years.

Social media 
Sporting organisations are increasingly
using social media to raise awareness of
their activities and keep their members
up to date. Tennis Ireland has
committed more resources in this area
too with the appointment of a
Communications and Social Media
Masters Student intern for six months
to help with the development and
delivery of our strategy for social media.

A recent report from Sportego, a
company that monitors Social Media
engagement amongst sports

organisations gave Tennis Ireland a
special mention for growing our social
presence by 7.37% and twice achieving
engagement rates of over 20% in the
month of January 2017.

Improving our engagement levels has
become a high priority for us and over
the last year our Facebook page
followers went up from 5601 to 6128
and engagement numbers have more
than doubled. 

In January 2016, there were a total of
20 tweets, 37,600 tweet impressions
and the twitter profile received 3,351
visits. A year later, in January 2017 for
the same number of tweets there were
112,000 tweet impressions and the
profile visits tripled to 9,025. 

Our main audience tends to be adults
between the ages of 35 and 54 and the
same statistics are true of visitors to our
website. Our next step is to develop a
plan to strengthen our connections with
the 18 to 34 yr olds and connecting
through new and existing channels
which will initially include growing our
activities on Instagram and Snapchat.

Website
In early 2016 we surveyed our members
to establish what their priorities were  in
relation to our website. A new fully
optimised and responsive website was
launched in September providing user
friendly search tools and access to key
information for visitors to the site. 

Newsletter 
The Tennis Ireland newsletter is
published each month and circulated to
approximately 16,000 persons who
subscribe to receive it. The information
shared via the newsletter is a mix of
international and domestic stories
featuring players and teams across all
categories, important updates from
within the sport, some local club stories
and items of special interest including
notice of Wimbledon and French Open
ticket ballots.



Financial Review
At the 2016 AGM the Board outlined a
number of financial strategic priorities
which would improve planning and
operational processes across the
organisation. Over the course of the year
the Board have worked hard with
committees, provincial representatives and
staff to achieve these objectives and we are
continuing to work together to improve our
services and to further develop the sport. 

The keys areas identified by the Board
were:
■ Good Corporate Governance
■ Presentation of quarterly consolidated
accounts to Board
■ The reduction of reliance on bank
overdrafts and the reduction of creditors
■ Improving club compliancy across
capitation, affiliation and child protection
■ Improving IT infrastructure

Good Corporate Governance
The Board of Tennis Ireland has identified
improvements in corporate governance as
a key factor in cultivating efficiencies
within the company and has systematically
begun the process of making
improvements over the last two years and
will continue to do so in the years ahead. 

A specific area of improvement in 2016
related to banking and specifically
upgrades in the structure of the banking
facilities we had in place. As Tennis Ireland,
Ltd consists of the five sub units of Head
Office and each of the four Provincial
Branches, a consolidated network of bank
accounts were required in order to collect
and distribute fees throughout the
company in a timely, transparent and
efficient manner. This new structure would
replace previously existing accounts that

had been set up separately by individual
committees outside of the Tennis Ireland
Ltd umbrella. 

The new banking facilities were
established during 2016 and new current
accounts and joint accounts with both
provincial and head office access were
opened with uniform authorisation
controls across the company. Each
individual signatory was also provided with
secure online access. 

The benefits from this move have been
substantial. The distribution of cash
throughout the organisation is much more
timely and efficient. As each sub-unit, has
varying annual cash cycles the company
has greater flexibility in the internal
distribution of funds so interest and
overdraft charges can be avoided. This
consolidation of assets also gives us a
stronger position change to with the banks
should we require funding further down
the line. 

Communication levels have improved
between each of the sub-units of the
company also and the flow of
management information up to Senior
Management and Board level is much
more comprehensive and up to date.

To support this work the Board re-
established a Finance Committee
responsible for the areas of strategic
financial planning, resource management,
financial monitoring, policy related issues
and to provide timely advice to Board on
areas within its remit. 

The committee members are made up
of representatives of the Board, the
Treasurer Officers from the four Branches,
the Chief Executive and Financial Controller
of the company and are meeting on a
regular basis throughout the year. 

Presentation of Quarterly
Consolidated Accounts to Board
Following on from efficiencies in the
banking system further improvements in
the information provided at monthly
Board meetings has been achieved. 

There has been significant
improvements in engagement between
the Financial Controller at Head Office and
the provincial treasurers and
administrative staff. The Financial
Controller has travelled to each province
on numerous occasions in the past year to
assist in the establishment of more
effective financial procedures and controls
and to ensure financial information is
being recorded correctly. 

The company has benefited in that
there are now solid bookkeeping functions
across each sub unit that can now provide
quarterly provincial information in a
standardised format. 

This in turn enables a more dynamic
decision making process. Comprehensive
standardised bookkeeping has also
allowed us to proceed with the annual
statutory audit much earlier in the year
and allows us to have an AGM much earlier
in the year.

Reduction in bank overdraft
Charges and the reduction of
creditors
Historically, there has been a significant
reliance on overdraft facilities in order to
maintain operations at Head Office. With
prudent management the reliance on this
overdraft has reduced steadily over the
past year, however, due to the annual cash
cycle head office remains reliant on
overdraft facilities at certain times of the
year. The improved financial position of
the organisation and related efficiencies
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has meant that bank charges are now
avoided through the internal transfer of
funds when needed. 

Improving club compliancy -
Capitation, Affiliation and Child
Protection
The Board highlighted the area of
affiliation as a key risk factor to the
association. The Board have reviewed the
annual returns received from clubs over
the past number of years and with
guidance from Sport Ireland and
consultation with other sporting bodies,
the Board passed a resolution that in order
for a club to continue affiliation to Tennis
Ireland, they would be mandated to
declare their compliancy with the
safeguarding children policy and to
declare their membership figures. 
Comprehensive processes were
incorporated across the company to
ensure that this was enforced. The Board
look at compliancy rates on a monthly
basis and sanctions such as not allowing
clubs to receive a permit for tournaments
proved to be an effective tool for securing
compliance. The process of ensuring
compliancy will be a key objective of the
Board in the coming years as we seek to
grow our sport and fund the services to
our members.

Improved IT infrastructure
Another area that the Board and
management identified as needing
improvement was in the area of
Information Technology. The Board
deemed it crucial that they have
appropriate systems in place so the
governing body could communicate
quickly with its members. 

The player database that was in place

previously was deemed unfit for purpose
and the Board approved investment for a
replacement system. The company Visual
Reality, who work with many Tennis
Federations across Europe and supply
Tennis Ireland’s Tournament Planner
software were engaged in 2016 to support
the development and maintenance of the
National Player Database. 

This has improved our ability to
communicate to our clubs and members
and to facilitate a more comprehensive
ranking and player database. This has also
led to improved internal communications
within and outside the company. 

While progress has been made across a
range of areas, significant challenges lie
ahead and Tennis Ireland are committed to
meeting these challenges head on.

Further initiatives and areas of process
improvement will be rolled out in the
coming year to continue to drive the
company and the sport forward.

Code of Governance
Good Governance should be at the
cornerstone of all sports in Ireland and our
Sport is no different. We have worked very
closely with our key statutory funding

partners, Sport Ireland and Sport Northern
Ireland, throughout the year in relation to
making continuous improvements in our
processes and procedures.

Following a directive from the Minister at
the Department of Transport, Tourism and
Sport, all National Governing Bodies must
be fully compliant with the Governance
Code which is a Code of Practice for the
good governance of Community,
Voluntary and Charitable Organisations in
Ireland by 2018.

To achieve this, the board have
undertaken a significant amount of work
to ensure that our sport complies with the
criteria set down in the Governance Code.
Our compliance with the Code currently
stands at 90% and the Board are
committed to being fully compliant long
before the end of 2017.

A further development in this area has
been the development of a new company-
wide Employee handbook which will be
presented to staff shortly.  The handbook
also outlines a newly developed
whistleblowing policy for Tennis Ireland. 

A key development relating to the
Governance of the organisation is the
commencement of an externally
facilitated review of the board and the
processes and procedures through which
it governs the sport.  Following a
procurement process, Prospectus
Management Consultants, were appointed
in late March and have begun the process
of engaging with the individual board
members, Branch Presidents and senior
management within the organisation.  A
report outlining a series of
recommendations will be presented to the
Board in the coming weeks for
consideration.
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The Board of Tennis Ireland

has identified improvements

in corporate governance as a

key factor in cultivating

efficiencies within the

company. 
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2016 Irish Open Veterans Championships 32nd Veterans National Tennis Championships RSA NI Insurance LTD Irish Veterans' Indoor 
Championships 2017

Winner Runner up Winner Runner up Winner Runner up
MS35 Garry Kilduff Rob Cherry David Mullins Conor McVoy Fabio Molle Johnny Abosi
WS35 Kristine Kornikova Linda Lawlor Aoife O'Neill Kristine Kornikova Lena O'Connor Ashley McVeigh
MS40 Alex Iliev Cronan Mc Namara Justin Smyth Alex Iliev Stuart McQuitty Alex Iliev
WS40 Deirdre Johnston Louise D'Arcy Grainne O'Donoghue Louise D'Arcy Deirdre Johnston Antoinette O'Keeffe
MS45 Kevin Noble William Reynolds Kevin Noble Niall Murphy Andrew Moore Eddie Moloney
WS45 Deirdre McSherry Maite Cosmen Niamh Kennedy Gillian Chandler Caitriona Wilkinson Ann McElnay
MS50 Neil Wilson Bernard McCormack Bernard McCormack Neil Wilson Kevin Noble Hans-Henrik Enoksen
WS50 Niamh Kennedy Gillian Chandler Oonagh Colton Un Ryle
MS55 David Cunningham Martin Ormond William Noteman Tony Davison William Noteman David Cunningham
WS55 Marie Duffy Connie Creed Connie Creed Marie Duffy Ellen McCartney Gillian Chandler
MS60 Keith Porter Noel Sheridan Conor Woods Noel Sheridan Neagle Cathcart David Cunningham
WS60 Jenifer Burrows Margaret Rogers
MS65 Ben Cranwell Richard McCarthy Richard McCarthy Ben Cranwell Richard McCarthy Bryan Bailie
WS65 Norah Glynn Pat Cowley Norah Glynn Pat Cowley Pat Cowley Mary Barry
MS70 Donal McGoldrick John McAllister John O'rourke Martin J Daly Edmund Curran Hugh Harrington
WS70 Norah Glynn Irene Hewitt
MS75 Roddy Feely Frank Aiken Tadgh Kennelly Roddy Feely Paddy Brockerton John Gaston
MD35 Justin Clarke / Cormac Jones / Steve Landon / Bernard Mccormack / Stuart Mcquitty / Johnny Abosi /

Alan Donnelly Kevin Walsh Justin Smyth David Mullins Fabio Molle Glenn Maitland
WD35 Deirdre Mc Sherry/ Elaine Chambers / Louise D'Arcy / Eveline Berdychowska / Grainne O'Donoghue / Deirdre Johnston /

Lena O' Connor Donna Mc Sorley Aoife O'Neill" Agata Odachowska Jo-Anne Williamson Ashley Mcveigh
MD40 Conor D'Arcy / Paul Kealy / Steven Leeman / Robert M Cummins /

Justin Smyth Connor Smith William Noteman John Reidy"
WD40 Grainne O'Donoghue / Wemmechien Hofman / Wemmechien Hofman / Wendy Cree / Deirdre Mc Sherry / Ailbhe Atkinson /

Jo Anne Williamson Gemma O'Donoghue Grainne O'Donoghue Ffyona Cunningham Jo-Anne Williamson Jennifer Lyall"
MD45 Paul Kealy / Brian Cahill / Liam Cassidy / John Boylan Liam Cassidy / Kevin Noble /

Kevin Noble Gerry Cleary Michel Davitt Gerry Cleary Hans-Henrik Enoksen William Reynolds"
WD45 Wemmechien Hofman / Sheila Kilduff / Una Mcentee / Gillian Chandler / Carmel O'Hare / Wendy Cree /

Siobhan Riordan Annmarie O'Grady Carmel O'Hare Niamh Kennedy Caitriona Wilkinson Amanda Leeman"
MD50 Bernard Mccormack / Joe Donovan / Joe Donovan / Patrick Guiry /

Neil Wilson Ray Mc Ginley William Guiry Neil Wilson"
WD50 Gillian Chandler / Deirdre Bennett / Tracey Carruthers / Jill Little /

Niamh Kennedy Nicola Kearns Carmel O'Hare Sue Mcfall"
MD55 Michael Breslin / Martin Mahon / John Maguire / John Heffernan / Tom Barry / John Maguire /

John Maguire Greg Thompson" William Noteman Declan Webster Mark Milligan Pat Smith
WD55 Connie Creed / Ann Naughton / Anne Mccarthy / Connie Creed / Jill Little / Ann Darragh /

Marie Duffy Annette Smith Ann Naughton Marie Duffy Patricia Lord Ellen Mccartney
MD60 Keith Porter / John Goggin / Neagle Cathcart / Michael Breslin /

Noel Sheridan Conor Woods David Craig David Cunningham
WD60 Jennifer Burrows / Eleanor Mc Fadden / Patricia Dwyer / Clare Morris /

Patricia Dwyer Margaret Rogers Marian Mcveagh Mary Mulherin
MD65 Ben Cranwell / Damien Kelly / Ben Cranwell / Tony Kearney / George Lucas / Jim Canavan /

Richard Mc Carthy Michael Kelly Richard P Mccarthy Richard Kennedy Richard P Mccarthy Conor Sparks
WD65 Margaret Ann Broderick / Letty Lucas / Margaret Ann Broderick / Mary Barry / Letty Lucas / Margaret Ann Broderick /

Norah Glynn Helen Pollock Norah Glynn Pat Cowley" Helen Pollock Mary O'Neill"
MD70 George Lucas / Martin J Daly / George Lucas / Barry Leonard / George Lucas / John Macbride /

John Mc Allister Patrick Moloney John Mcallister Donal Mcgoldrick John Mcallister Noel Robinson"
WD70 Norah Glynn / Irene Hewitt

Michelle Linnane Jennifer Mcdonnell"
MD75 Simon Gordon / Roddy Feely /

Dave Young Tadgh Kennelly

Roll of Honour
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Davis Cup  Euro/Africa Zone Group III 2017
Team Pool D Promotion playoff
James McGee Ireland 3 Andorra 0 Ireland 2 Bulgaria 1
Sam Barry Ireland 3 Kosova 0
David O'Hare Ireland 2 Montenegro 1
Peter Bothwell
Conor Niland(capt)

Fed Cup Euro/Africa Zone Group III 2016
Team Pool B
Georgia Drummy Ireland 0 Montenegro 2
Jennifer Timotin Ireland 2 Armenia 1
Anna Bowtell Ireland 1 Macedonia 2

ITF World Young Senior Team Championships
Team Position

Mens 35 Justin Clarke, Gary Kilduff, Rob Cherry, David Mullins 14th
Womens 35 Elaine Chambers, Ashley McVeigh, Donna McSorley,

Christine Kournakova 6th
Mens 40 Justin Smith, Robert Cummins, Joe Cummiskey,

Cronan McNamara 12th
Womens 40 Ffyona Cunnngham, Suzanne Tyrrell, 

Gemma O’Donoghue 10th
Mens 45 Willie Reynolds, Pat McGrath, Eddie Moloney 14th
Womens 45 No team

ITF World Senior Championships
Team Position

Mens 50 Neil Wilson, Tim Blomley, Mark Milligan, Joe Donovan 12th
Womens 50 Carmel O’Hare, Niamh Kennedy, Jillian Chandler 12th
Mens 55 Tony Davison, Willie Noteman, Tom Barry, 

Robbie Harold 19th
Womens 55 Annette Smith, Connie Creed, Marie Duffy 

Anne Naughton, 9th
Mens 60 Neagle Cathcart, Noel Sheridan, Jimmy Wilson,

Michael Breslin 12th
Womens 60 No team

ITF World Super Senior Championships
Team Position

Mens 65 Richard McCarthy, William Caldwell, Hugh Harrington,
Michael Murray 16th

Womens 65 Frank Aiken, Tadgh Kennelly, Eddie Coakley, Derry Vereker 13th
Mens 70 George Lucas, Martin Daly, Patrick Dowling, John McAllistar 10th
Mens 75 Margaret Ann Broderick, Helen Pollock, Letty Lucas,

Pat Cowley 18th
Mens 80 Eddie French, Keith Hunt, Paddy Connery, Dennis Corby 11th
Womens 75 No team

ITF Wheelchair World Team Cup Qualifiers
Team Pool 
Stafford Lynn Ireland 0 Hungary 3
Garreth Greene Ireland 0 Romania 3
Ger Milligan Ireland 1 Portugal 2 
Ivor Jess 
Jim Watt(capt)

Tri-nations Championships
U14 U18

Winner Wales Wales
2nd place Scotland Scotland
3rd place Ireland Ireland

Four Nations Super Seniors
Results Ladies 55 Team Ladies 60 Team Ladies 65 Team Mens 55 Team Mens 60 Team Mens 65 Team 

Winner England 23 Annette Smith Ellen McCartney, Sheila Lacy Conor Woods Neagle Cathcart Richard McCarthy
2nd place Scotland 15 Patricia Lord Marian Mc Veagh Pat Cowley John Maguire Jimmy Wilson Tim Eaton
3rd place Ireland 12 Connnie Creed Geraldine Wynne Mgt. Anne Broderick Willie Noteman Michael Breslin Willie Caldwell
4th place Wales 10 Anne Naughton Pat Dwyer Kay Lynch Mick Tubridy David Craig George Lucas

DLTC Mens Winter League 2017
Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Winner Naas Donnybrook David Lloyd Castleknock Claremont/Railway Terenure Terenure
Runner up Fitzwilliam Fitzwilliam Sandycove Sutton Leopardstown Laytown/Bettystown Ratoath

DLTC Womens Winter League 2017
Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Winner David Lloyd UCD Glenageary Donnybrook Clontarf Terenure Portmarnock
Runner up Malahide Clontarf Ratoath Westwood Clontarf Ashbrook Sandycove Fitzwilliam

DLTC Mens Summer League 2016
Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Winner Malahide 1 Donnybrook 1 Carrickmines 2 Sutton 3 Sutton 4 Terenure 1 Co. Wicklow 4
Runner up Greystones 1 Malahide 1 Wicklow 1 Sandycove 3 Shankill 3 De Vesci 2 De Vesci 3

DLTC Womens Summer League 2016
Premier Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Winner David Lloyd 1 Sutton 1 Monkstown 1 Naas 3 Ratoath 1 Trim 1 Templeogue 8 Monkstown 6
Runner up Naas 1 Castleknock 1 Templeogue 1 Glasnevin 2 Swords 2 Castleknock 4 Sutton 6 Sutton 7

Roll of Honour
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Parks Tennis 
Northside 2017 U10 Girls U10 Boys U12 Girls U12 Boys U14 Girls U14 Boys U17 Girls U17 Boys
Winner Aobha Hogan Sean Keogh Juliette Fuller Abdullah Muhammad Adriana Nikolopoulou Adam Bolger Jennifer Coyne Jake Gleeson

(St.Annes) (St.Annes) (St.Annes) (St.Annes) (Albert College)  (Johnstown Park) (Rockfield) (Rockfield)
Runner Up Sophie Bolger Euan Martin Archita Sharma Ruaira Kirby Majella Barona Gavan Deering Maria Stephen Moore

(Johnstown Pk) (Ellenfield) (St.Annes) (Laurel Lodge) (Rockfield) (Johnstown Park) (Rockfield) (Rockfield)
Southside 2016
Winner Ellie Lakera Pavel Vassilev Aleena Binu Sam Purcell Charvi Goyal Paul Lee Audrey Guildea Criostoir O’Loinsigh

(Tallaght School) (Bushy Park) (Herbert Park) (Tallaght Com.Schl). (Bushy Park) (Cherryfield) (Cherryfield) (Cherryfield)
Runner Up Erica Brennan Ruben Lynch Lily O’Toole Josh Kenny Lucy O’Toole David Murphy O’Donovan Ellen Lee Darragh Moore 

(Bushy Park) (Bushy Park) (Herbert Park) (Bushy Park) (Cherryfield) (Cherryfield) (Cherryfield)

Belfast and District Summer League
B&D Juvenile Challenge Trophies 2016

U18 Boys U14 Boys U18 Girls U14 Girls
Winner Lurgan A Ballycastle A Hilden Boat Club
Runner up Hawarden B Cloughey & District Banbridge Hilden

Ladies Winter League 2016
Division 1 Division 2

Winner Bangor Downshire A 
Runner up CIYMS A CIYMS

Ladies Singles 2016
Division 1 Division 2 Division 3

Winner Hawarden  A CIYMS Cavehill
Runner up ATT Hawarden B Boat Club B

Mens Winter League 2016
Winner Windsor
Runner up Cavehill

Juvenile League 2016 
U18 Girls Division 1 Division 2 Division 3
Winner Hawarden Banbridge Hilden
Runner up Lurgan Gilnahirk Downshire B

U14 Girls Division 1 Division 2
Winner Boat Club Hilden
Runner up David Lloyd Donaghadee

U18 Boys Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Division 4 Division 5
Winner Hawarden  A Hawarden B Newry/Warrenpoint Ballynafeigh A Ballynafeigh B
Runner up Hilden A Lurgan A Windsor B Ballymena A Lurgan B

U14 Boys Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Division 4 Division 5
Winner Bangor A Ballycastle A Cloughey & District Bangor B Windsor B
Runner up Boat Club A Hilden A Coleraine A Helen’s Bay Banbridge 

Mens Singles League 2016
Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Division 4 Division 5

Winner Hilden A Windsor C Muckamore A Hawarden B Cavehill B
Runner up David Lloyd Bangor A ATT Ballymena A Ballymena B

Munster Branch Winter League Winners 2017
Grade 1 Mixed Grade 2 Mixed Grade 3 Mixed Grade 4 Mixed Grade 5 Mixed Grade 6 Mixed

Winner Douglas Limerick Lawn Douglas Crosshaven Bishopstown Lower Aghada 
Runner up Nenagh Mitchelstown Ballinlough Carrigaline Ballinlough Douglas 

Grade 3 Men Grade 4 Men Grade 5 Men Grade 6 Men
Winner St Annes Limerick Lawn Ennis Catholic Institute
Runner up Nenagh Whitechurch Rushbrooke Monaleen

Grade 3 Ladies Grade 4 Ladies Grade 5 Ladies Grade 6 Ladies
Winner Limerick Lawn Douglas Nenagh Nenagh 
Runner up Whitechurch Ballinlough Limerick Lawn Carrigaline

Mixed League 2016
Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Division 4 Division 5 Division 6 Division 7 Division 8

Winner Bangor/ATT Royal Belfast A Boat Club B Bangor C Downshire C Newcastle A Downshire D Downshire E
Runner up Windsor A Donaghadee A Cavehill A Windsor C Boat Club C Coleraine Civil Service Royal Belfast B

Roll of Honour
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Company Information
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Danske Bank
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Solicitors Sheehan & Company
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Directors' Report
For the Financial year Ended 31 December 2016

The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2016.

Principal activities
Tennis Ireland is a company limited by guarantee and without a
share capital. The company has a total of eleven directors who
work closely with the chief executive.

Tennis Ireland is the national governing body for the sport of
tennis in Ireland. Founded in 1908, it has approximately 200
affiliated clubs and the combined membership of these clubs is
estimated at 80,000 members. Tennis Ireland stages various
national championships, ITF Futures and ATP Challengers events
and also competes in the Federation Cup and the Davis Cup. It
also operates a variety of development programmes on both a
national and provincial level for both senior and junior elite
players.

Tennis Ireland has five broad areas of responsibility as follows:
Administration and regulating the game at all levels.

Organising competitions at various levels, from wheelchair
tennis through to the Davis Cup.

Developing the sport through the provision of technical,
coaching and financial support for a variety of national and
provincial programmes which impact at both elite and
recreational levels of the game. Tennis Ireland also has
responsibility  for coaches' education.

The management and development of the National Tennis
Academy at DCU together with the various national and
provincial development programmes which support this
initiative.

Promoting the game in the widest possible sense and
specifically to the various key constituencies such as
government and media.

Results and dividends
The profit for the financial year, after taxation, amounted to
€133,801 (2015 - €138,395).

Directors
The directors who served during the financial year were:
Desmond Allen (resigned 5 August 2016)
John Delaney
Kieran Tobin Olwyn Raftery David Barber Clifford Carroll
George Lucas (resigned 27 January 2017) Joseph Power
Stephen Reid William Meehan Jimmy Cahill George Stevenson

Principal risks and uncertainties
Economic risk
The risk of increased interest rates and/ or inflation having an
adverse impact on served markets. Theses risks are managed by
innovative product sourcing and strict controls of costs.

Financial risk
The directors of the company closely monitor the company's
trading activities to manage credit, liquidity and other financial
risk.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the directors to ensure compliance with
the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act
2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting records, are the
employment of appropriately qualified accounting personnel
and the maintenance of computerised accounting systems. The
company's accounting records are maintained at the company's
registered office at Dublin City University, Glasnevin, Dublin 9.

Events since the end of the year
There have been no significant events affecting the company
since year end.

Future developments
The company plans to continue its present activities.

Statement on relevant audit 
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this
Directors' Report is approved has confirmed that:

• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditors are unaware,
and

• the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been
taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company's auditors are
aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton,  continue in office in accordance
with section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. This report was
approved by the board on 28 April 2017 and signed on its
behalf.

William Meehan
Director

John Delaney
Director 
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Directors' Responsibilities Statement
For the Financial year Ended 31 December 2016

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report
and the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and
regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare the
financial statements for each financial  year. Under the law, the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in
accordance with Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in
Ireland, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland'  and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Ireland and Irish law.

Under company law, the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position
of the Company as at the financial year end date, of the profit or
loss of the Company for that financial year and otherwise
comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards, identify
those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any
material departure from those standards; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the will continue in
business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company
keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting

records which correctly explain and record the transactions of
the Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined
with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and Directors'  Report comply with the
Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be
audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding  the assets of
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included on
the Company's website. Legislation in Republic of Ireland
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the board

William Meehan
Director
Date: 28 April 2017 

John Delaney
Director 
Date: 28 April 2017 
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Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Tennis Ireland CLG

We have audited the financial statements of Tennis Ireland CLG
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016, which comprise
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet,
the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in
Equity and the related notes.   including FRS 102 "The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland".

This report is made solely to the Company's  members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company's members those matters we are required
to state to them in an Auditors'  Report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other  than the Company
and the Company's  members  as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and the
Auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors'  Responsibilities
Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies Act
2014. Our responsibility  is to audit and express an opinion  on
the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and
International  Standards on Auditing  (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's Ethical  Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to

give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements.  In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information  in the Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with

the audited financial statements and to identify any
information  that is apparently materially incorrect  based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in
the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider
the implications  for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting  Practice in Ireland of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2016 and of its profit for the financial year then
ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2014. 

Matters on which we are required to report by the
Companies Act 2014
• We have obtained all the information  and explanations which

we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
• In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were

sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and
properly audited.

• The financial statements are in agreement with the
accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the
Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our
opinion,  the disclosures of directors' remuneration and
transactions specified by law are not made.

Molyneux House
Bride Street
Dublin 8

Noel Delaney, FCA
for and on behalf of
Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants
& Registered Auditors 

28 April 2017 
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All amounts relate to continuing operations. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Note € €

Turnover 2,212,347 2,149,507

Gross profit 2,212,347 2,149,507

Administrative expenses (2,119,617) (2,011,112)

Other operating income 41,071 -

Operating profit 133,801 138,395

Profit for the financial year 133,801 138,395

Other comprehensive income for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 133,801 138,395
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board:

William Meehan John Delaney
Director Director

Date: 28 April 2017 

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Note € €

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 1,500,410 1,652,798

Fixed  asset investments 962 962

1,501,372 1,653,760

Current assets

Stocks 11 1,657 1,657

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 12 168,272 137,995

Cash at bank and in hand 13 586,319 490,598

756,248 630,250

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (344,846) (422,923)

Net current assets 411,402 207,327

Total assets less current liabilities 1,912,774 1,861,087

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than
one year

15 (985,366) (1,067,480)

Net assets 927,408 793,607

Capital and reserves

Profit and loss account 17 927,408 793,607

Shareholders' funds 927,408 793,607
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The notes on pages 10 to 21 form part of these financial statements. 

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2016

Profit and loss Total equity

€ €

At 1 January 2016 793,607 793,607

Comprehensive income for the financial year

Profit for the financial year 133,801 133,801

At 31 December 2016 927,408 927,408

Profit and loss Total equity

€ €

At 1 January 2015 655,212 655,212

Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year 138,395 138,395

At 31 December 2015 793,607 793,607

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2015
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

€ €

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial financial year 133,801 138,395

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets (82,114) (101,004)

Depreciation of tangible assets 174,320 172,233

Increase in stocks - (381)

Increase in debtors (30,277) 46,673

Increase in creditors (78,077) (37,514)

Net cash generated from operating activities 117,653 218,402

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (21,932) (46,182)

Net cash from investing activities (21,932) (46,182)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of loans - (17,775)

Net cash used in financing activities - (17,775)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 95,721 154,445

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 490,598 336,153

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 586,319 490,598

Cash at bank and in hand 586,319 490,598

586,319 490,598 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2016

1. General information
Tennis Ireland CLG is a company  limited  by guarantee,
having no share capital and incorporated  in Ireland
(Registered number  342413) with a registered office  at
Dublin City University, Glasnevin, Dublin 9. It is a registered
sports body.

2. Accounting policies
2.1   Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Financial Reporting  Standard 102, the
Financial  Reporting  Standard applicable in   the UK and
the Republic  of Ireland  and Irish statute comprising of the
Companies Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with
FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires  management to exercise
judgment  in applying the Company's accounting policies
(see note 3).

The following principal accounting policies have been
applied:

2.2  Revenue
Revenue  is  recognised  to the extent that it is  probable
that the economic  benefits will flow to the Company  and
the revenue  can be reliably  measured. Revenue is
measured as the  fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, excluding  discounts,  rebates, value added tax
and other  sales taxes. The following criteria must also be
met before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue  from a contract   to provide  services  is
recognised  in the period in which the services  are
provided  in accordance  with the stage  of completion  of
the contract  when all  of the following conditions are
satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the Company will receive the

consideration due under the contract;
• the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the

reporting period can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred and the costs to complete the

contract can be measured reliably.

2.3  Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at
historical  cost less accumulated depreciation  and any
accumulated impairment  losses. Historical  cost includes

expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. 

Depreciation is charged  so as to allocate the cost of assets
less their residual value over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

National indoor training centre  - 5% straight line
Equipment, fixtures & fittings     - 25% reducing balance

The assets'  residual   values,  useful   lives   and
depreciation  methods are  reviewed,   and  adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication  of a
significant change since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined  by
comparing  the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.4  Valuation of investments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less
accumulated impairment.

Investments  in  unlisted   Company   shares,  whose market
value  can  be  reliably   determined,   are remeasured  to
market  value  at each  balance sheet  date.  Gains  and
losses on remeasurement  are recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income for the period. Where market
value cannot be reliably determined, such investments are
stated at historic  cost less impairment.

Investments in listed company shares are remeasured to
market value at each Balance Sheet date. Gains and losses
on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss for the
period.

2.5  Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value, being the estimated selling price less costs to
complete  and sell.  Cost is  based  on the cost of purchase
on a  first in, first outbasis. Work in progress and finished
goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At each balance sheet date, stocks  are assessed for
impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying amount is
reduced  to its selling  price  less costs  to complete  and
sell. The impairment  loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2.6  Debtors
Short term debtors  are  measured  at  transaction  price,
less  any  impairment.   Loans  receivable  are measured
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment. 

2.7  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with
financial institutions repayable without  penalty on notice
of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly
liquid investments that mature in no more than three
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily
convertible  to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows,  cash and cash equivalents
are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash
management.

2.8  Financial instruments
The Company only enters into basic financial instruments
transactions that result in the recognition of financial
assets and  liabilities like trade and other debtors  and
creditors,  loans from banks and other third parties, loans
to related parties and investments in non-puttable
ordinary shares.

Debt instruments  (other than those wholly repayable or
receivable within  one year), including  loans and other
accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at
present value of the future cash flows and  subsequently
at amortised  cost  using  the effective  interest method.
Debt instruments  that are payable or receivable within one
year, typically  trade debtors  and creditors,  are measured,
initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of
the cash or other consideration  expected to be paid or
received. However,  if the arrangements  of a short-term
instrument  constitute  a financing transaction, like the
payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business
terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market
rate or in case of an out-right  short-term loan not at
market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured,
initially, at the present value of the future cash flow
discounted at a market  rate of interest for a similar debt
instrument  and subsequently at amortised cost.

Investments in non-convertible  preference shares and in
non-puttable ordinary and preference shares are
measured:

• at fair value with changes recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income if the shares are publicly traded
or their fair value can otherwise be measured reliably;

• at cost less impairment for all other investments.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised
cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for
objective  evidence  of  impairment.  If  objective  evidence
of  impairment  is  found, an impairment loss is recognised
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For financial  assets measured  at  amortised cost, the
impairment  loss  is  measured   as the difference between
an asset's carrying  amount and the present value of
estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment  loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured  at cost less impairment, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
an  asset's  carrying   amount  and best  estimate  of  the
recoverable  amount,  which is  an approximation of the
amount that the Company would receive for the asset if it
were to be sold at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the Balance Sheet when there is an
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and
there is an intention  to settle on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Derivatives, including  interest rate swaps and forward
foreign exchange contracts,  are not basic financial
instruments. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair
value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently  re-measured  at their fair value. Changes
in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or
loss in finance costs or income  as appropriate.  The
company  does not currently apply hedge accounting for
interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives.

2.9  Creditors
Short term creditors  are measured at the transaction
price. Other financial  liabilities, including bank loans, are
measured initially at fair value, net of transaction  costs,
and are measured subsequently  at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.10 Government  grants
Grants are accounted under the accruals model as
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permitted  by FRS 102. Grants relating to expenditure on
tangible fixed assets are credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income at the same rate as the
depreciation on the assets  to which the grant  relates. The
deferred  element of grants is included in creditors  as
deferred  income.

Grants of a revenue  nature  are recognised  in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income  in the same period
as the related expenditure.

2.11 Foreign  currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The Company's functional  and presentational currency is
Euros.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional  currency using the spot exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are
translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary items
measured at historical  cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-
monetary  items measured at fair value are measured using
the exchange rate when  fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of transactions and from the translation at
period-end  exchange rates of monetary  assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign  currencies are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
except when deferred in other comprehensive income  as
qualifying  cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 'finance
income or costs'. All other foreign exchange gains  and
losses  are  presented  in the Statement  of Comprehensive
Income  within 'other operating income'. 

2.12 Pensions
Defined contribution pension plan
The  Company  operates a defined contribution  plan for its
employees. A defined contribution  plan is a pension  plan
under which the Company  pays fixed contributions into a
separate   entity. Once the contributions  have been paid
the Company has no further payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised  as an expense in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when they fall due.

Amounts  not paid are shown in accruals as a liability in the
Balance Sheet. The  assets of the plan are held separately
from the Company in independently administered funds.

2.13 Taxation
The company is exempt from corporation tax as a sporting
body. The company does not carry out its activities for gain
and accordingly  has not provided for corporation tax.

3. Judgments in applying accounting policies and
key sources of estimation uncertainty

Preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make significant judgements and
estimates. The items in the financial statements where
these judgments and estimates have been made include:

Useful lives of depreciable assets
The annual depreciation charge depends primarily  on the
estimated lives of each type and component  of asset and,
in certain circumstances, estimates of fair values and
residual values. The directors annually review these asset
lives and adjust them as necessary  to reflect current
thinking on remaining lives in light of technological
change, prospective economic utilisation and physical
condition of the assets concerned. Changes in asset lives
can have significant impact on depreciation charges for
the period. It is not practical to quantify the impact of
changes in asset lives on an overall  basis, as asset lives are
individually  determined, and there are a significant
number of asset lives in use. The impact of any change
would  vary significantly depending on the individual
changes in assets and the classes of assets impacted.
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2016 2015

€ €

Club affiliation fees 71,832 74,909

Player capitation fees 508,060 481,115

Tournament permit fees 24,724 24,199

Tournament capitation fees 98,478 101,603

National training centre fees 260,847 249,500

Sponsorship 84,615 108,043

Davis cup income - 58,513

Development income 103,100 55,014

Coaching income 246,840 187,927

Tournament income 143,531 134,198

Court hire 23,318 29,449

Garda vetting 5,637 4,686

Sport Ireland 532,730 529,497

Sport Northern Ireland 108,635 110,854

Total 2,212,347 2,149,507

2016 2015

€ €

Insurance claims receivable            41,071 -

41,071 - 

4. Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business  is as follows:

Club affiliation  and players capitation fees are those received by the company from affiliated clubs and their members.

Government  grants are those received from the Sport Ireland, the National Lottery and Sport Northern Ireland.

5. Other operating income

6. Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
The operating profit is stated after charging:

2016 2015

€ €

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 174,320 172,233

Exchange differences (28,251) (34,802)

Defined contribution pension cost 17,422 23,229
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2016 2015

€ €

Wages and salaries 501,599 366,257

Social insurance costs 63,768 49,448

Cost of defined contribution scheme 17,422 23,229

582,789 438,934

7. Employees
Staff costs, including  directors' remuneration, were as follows:

2016 2015

No. No.

Management (including executive directors) 3 3

Administration 10 7

13 10 

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €NIL  (2015 - €NIL).

The average monthly number of employees, including  the directors, during the financial year was as follows:

2016 2015

€ €

Directors' emoluments 128,686 82,009

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 17,422 23,229

146,108 105,238 

8. Directors' remuneration

42 ::  TENNIS IRELAND ANNUAL REPORT 2016

TENNIS IRELAND ANNUAL REPORT 2016



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Financial  year Ended 31 December 2016

9. Tangible fixed assets

2016 2015

€ €

Freehold 1,399,759 1,541,296

1,399,759 1,541,296

The net book value of land and buildings may be further analysed  as follows:

National indoor
training centre

Equipment,
fixtures &

fittings
Total

€ € €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2016 2,885,211 528,634 3,413,845

Additions 2,724 19,208 21,932

At 31 December 2016 2,887,935 547,842 3,435,777

Depreciation

At 1 January 2016 1,343,915 417,132 1,761,047

Charge for the period on owned assets 144,261 30,059 174,320

At 31 December 2016 1,488,176 447,191 1,935,367

Net book value

At 31 December 2016 1,399,759 100,651 1,500,410

At 31 December 2015 1,541,296 111,502 1,652,798

9. Tangible fixed assets (continued)

National indoor
training centre

Equipment,
fixtures &

fittings
Total

€ € €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2015 2,880,139 487,524 3,367,663

Additions 5,072 41,110 46,182

At 31 December 2015 2,885,211 528,634 3,413,845

Depreciation

At 1 January 2015 1,199,909 388,905 1,588,814

Charge for the period on owned assets 144,006 28,227 172,233

At 31 December 2015 1,343,915 417,132 1,761,047

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 1,541,296 111,502 1,652,798

At 31 December 2014 1,680,230 98,619 1,778,849
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10. Financial assets

Listed investments

€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2016 962

At 31 December 2016 962

Net book value

At 31 December 2016 962

At 31 December 2015 962

Listed investments

€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2015 962

At 31 December 2015 962

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 962

At 31 December 2014 962

2016 2015

€ €

Finished goods and goods for resale 1,657 1,657

1,657 1,657

2016 2015

€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 586,319 490,598

586,319 490,598

11. Stocks

2016 2015

€ €

Trade debtors 167,437 98,119

Other debtors - 39,041

Prepayments and accrued income 835 835

168,272 137,995

12. Debtors

13. Cash and cash equivalents
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14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2016 2015

€ €

Trade creditors 73,072 154,288

Taxation and social security 3,835 35,359

Accruals 77,740 61,770

Deferred income 190,199 171,506

344,846 422,923

Other taxation and social security 2016 2015

€ €

PAYE/PRSI 3,835 35,359

3,835 35,359

15. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

The capital grant was received from the Department of Arts, Sport and Tourism in relation to the building of the National Indoor
Training Centre. The grant is deferred and recognised in the income statement over the useful like of the related asset. Under
the grant agreement, the Minister for Arts, Sports and Tourism has a charge over the related assets of the company.

2016 2015

€ €

Government  grants received    985,366 1,067,480

985,366 1,067,480

16. Financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise of cash at bank.

17. Reserves
Profit and loss account
Includes all current and prior period retained surplus' and deficits.

18. Company status
The company is limited  by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable  to
contribute  an amount  not exceeding  €1 towards  the assets  of the company in the event  of liquidation.

19. Approval of financial statements
The board of directors approved these financial statements for issue on 28 April 2017

2016 2015

€ €

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 586,319 490,598

586,319 490,598
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